No. 23-CF-0205

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Received 02/18/2025 06:34 PM Filed 02/18/2025 06:34 PM

RONNIKA M. JENNINGS,

Appellant,

ν.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, No. 2018 CF1 006028 (Demeo, J.)

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

LEAH FUGERE, PRO HAC VICE (PENDING) WILMER CUTLER PICKERING HALE AND DORR LLP 350 S. Grand Ave 24th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90071 **Counsel for Oral Argument
Zachary Halpern
Paul Piazza
Wilmer Cutler Pickering
Hale and Dorr llp
2100 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20037
(202) 663-6921
matthew.martens@wilmerhale.com

February 18, 2025

RULE 28(a)(2)(A) STATEMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). The trial court issued a final judgment of conviction on March 13, 2023. App. 49; Tr. Dkt. 891. Jennings timely filed a notice of appeal the same day. App. 169; Tr. Dkt. 892.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether a conviction for obstruction of "the due administration of justice in any official proceeding," in violation of D.C. Code § 22-722(a)(6), can be sustained based on evidence (which was insufficient, in any event) of obstruction of a criminal prosecution pending in U.S. District Court, despite the statutory definition of an "official proceeding" as including only proceedings in D.C. Superior Court and the D.C. Court of Appeals.
- 2. Whether the trial court plainly erred in failing to instruct on the technical, statutory definition of "official proceeding" as used in Section 22-722(a)(6).
- 3. Whether there was sufficient evidence that Jennings was an accessory after the fact to assault with intent to kill and to murder.
- 4. Whether the trial court plainly erred in failing to instruct on the technical, common-law definition of the assistance element of an accessory-after-the-fact offense.
- 5. Whether, given that Jennings was a MPD employee required to cooperate with the police investigation, the prosecution's use of her interrogation statements was involuntary under *Garrity v. New Jersey*, 385 U.S. 493 (1967), and required a hearing pursuant to *Kastigar v. United States*, 406 U.S. 441 (1972).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 14, 2019, Jennings was charged in a superseding indictment with forty-five counts, alleging conspiracy to kill and assault (Count 1), accessory after the fact to unlawful possession of firearm (Counts 3, 8, 13, 23, 34, 39, 41), first degree murder (Count 35), accessory after the fact to murder (Counts 5, 36), possession of firearm while committing first degree murder (Count 37), assault with intent to kill (hereinafter, "AWIK") (Counts 9, 14, 17, 20, 24, 27, 30), accessory after the fact to AWIK (Counts 10, 15, 18, 21, 25, 28, 31), possession of firearm while committing AWIK (Counts 11, 16, 19, 26, 29, 32), conspiracy to obstruct justice (Count 42), and obstruction of justice (Counts 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55). App. 56-124; Tr. Dkt. 152.

A hearing on Jennings's motions to suppress was held on July 5, July 8, and September 6, 2022, at which Jennings sought to suppress statements made during a police interrogation as well as the contents obtained from a search of her cellphone. *See* App. 125-135; Tr. Dkt. 549, 557, 579. On September 6, 2022, the trial court denied her motions to suppress. *See* App. 226-227; 230-231.

On September 12, 2022, a jury trial commenced in D.C. Superior Court, with a verdict rendered on December 14, 2022. Tr. Dkt. 602, 862. The jury found Jennings not guilty of forty counts, but found her guilty of Counts 15, 18, and 21 (accessory after the fact to AWIK), Count 36 (accessory after the fact to murder), and Count 47 (obstruction of justice). App. 152-167. On March 13, 2023, the trial

¹ On February 12, 2025, Jennings filed a Motion to Supplement the Record in this appeal with certain trial court exhibits and motions to suppress evidence.

court sentenced Jennings to fifteen years in prison on Count 36, with lesser sentences on the remaining charges to run concurrently. App. 49; Tr. Dkt. 884-889.²

STATEMENT OF FACTS³

A. Ronnika Jennings

At the time of the events in question, Ronnika Jennings was a 38-year-old single mother of three children living in the Barry Farms neighborhood. *See* Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 5:40-6:30. Jennings had been employed since 2005 by the Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD"), most recently as a Customer Service Representative in the Seventh District. Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 6:55-7:30; App. 360. Her duties did not include investigative work, although police officers sometimes asked her about incidents that took place in her neighborhood. *See* App. 259. She answered phones, assisted members of the public, and provided clerical support to other police department members. *See* Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 7:30-7:45; App. 255, 280, 360.

Jennings's workstation in the Seventh District was approximately 50 feet away from a police radio. App. 275. However, the names of suspects were not called out over the radio. *See* Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 39:40-40:10 ("they're not calling off

² At the close of the evidence, the trial court considered whether to provide the jury with a consolidated version of the indictment that renumbered the counts. *See* App. 592. Ultimately, the court decided to submit the original indictment to the jury with instructions to disregard the fact that they were not asked to deliberate on some counts. *Id.* For reasons that are unclear, the trial court's judgments of conviction and docket reflect the count numbers as used in the consolidated version of the indictment rather than the operative Superseding Indictment of March 14, 2019. *See* App. 49, 152-167; Tr. Dkt. 884-889. In this brief, the count numbers used correspond to those of the Superseding Indictment.

³ As required, this brief recounts the evidence and inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the government, but admits the accuracy of neither.

people's names"); see also 1:41:30-1:42:05 (Det. Charles Fultz conceding a station clerk cannot hear the radio unless actively listening to it); App. 276-278 (station clerk would have to actively pay attention to hear the radio over continuous phone conversations by other clerks). And, of particular importance here, the government introduced no evidence that facts relevant to crimes Jennings purportedly assisted were transmitted over any police radio.

Jennings also assisted members of the public with accessing publicly available information in MPD databases. Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 3:46:25-3:46:45; App. 280. To do so, Jennings had access to a MPD database known as "Cobalt," which contained information about specific criminal incidents reported to MPD. App. 397-398. Cobalt could generate "Public Incident Packets," which included information that members of the public were entitled to request. App. 280, 402-403, 424-425; *see also*, *e.g.*, App. 838-839. Additionally, Cobalt could generate "Internal Packets" that sometimes included more sensitive information. *See*, *e.g.*, App. 841-869.⁴

Jennings was introduced to co-defendant Derek Turner (aka "Fatz") through Antwan Jones, who she had long known from her neighborhood. Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 11:05-12:00. Turner first called Jennings on November 23, 2016, following which the two engaged in regular phone correspondence until March 2017. *See generally* App. 696-723. Direct evidence of the substance of Jennings's and Turner's correspondence consisted of one recorded jailhouse call, three brief text message exchanges (only one of which is even arguably relevant to the charges of

⁴ The government introduced the packets with redactions as exhibits to show how Jennings would have viewed them at the time. *See* App. 414, 419-420.

conviction),⁵ and two sets of text messages sent to Jennings through third parties. *See* Tr. Ex. JC-14; App. 717, 721-722, 729, 732. The prosecution did not introduce any other evidence concerning the content of the communications between Turner and Jennings. In particular, there is no evidence that Jennings shared confidential MPD information with Turner, *see* App. 379-384, 433-435, 486-488, or that Jennings had a motive to engage in potentially criminal behavior. *See* App. 239-240 (acknowledging government had no theory as to motive for Jennings to supply information), 279-280 (Jennings did not live in or have issues with the violently feuding neighborhoods involved here); *see also* RJ-1 at 1:00:50-1:01:30 (Jennings responds to allegation that she told Turner she would look into parking ticket for him, stating "It sounds like I just blew [Turner] off ... I blow a lot of people off when it sounds like they're fishing.").

B. Accessory To Assault With Intent To Kill (February 21-23, 2022)

On the evening of Friday, February 17, 2017, Turner allegedly shot Andrew McPhatter, Joseph Tyler, and Raheem Osborne near the Congress Heights neighborhood. *See* App. 161-163, 335, 449-450. On Monday, February 20 at 5:59pm, Turner called Jennings for one minute and thirty-one seconds. App. 713. On Tuesday, February 21 at 6:39am and 6:45am, Jennings accessed the Cobalt

⁵ The government also introduced evidence of calls between Turner, Jones, and Jennings dating to November 2016, along with evidence of Jennings's MPD database searches. This evidence is irrelevant to the present appeal because Jennings was acquitted on all charges relating to conduct other than that presented here.

database to search for information related to the February 17 shooting.⁶ App. 760. Both times, Jennings viewed the internal-facing packet. *Id*.

On February 22, Turner called Jennings at 12:09pm for thirty-three seconds. App. 711. This call took place within three hours of another shooting for which Turner was later charged.⁷ App. 99-102, 335-336. On Thursday, February 23, 2017, at 11:03am and 11:07am, Jennings accessed the Cobalt database for information concerning the February 17 shooting, and did so for the February 22 shooting as well at 7:06am and 9:28am. App. 754-755.⁸ Jennings viewed the internal-facing packet for the February 17 shooting and then converted a public-use packet concerning that shooting to a .pdf file. *Id.* That same day, Jennings called Turner at 2:34pm for sixteen seconds, Turner called Jennings at 2:58pm for six seconds, and Jennings called Turner at 3:01pm for twenty-six seconds. App. 709.

The government presented no evidence that, between February 21 and February 23, Jennings was aware that Turner was a suspect (if he was) in the February 17 shooting during that time. No evidence was presented concerning the content of any of the above-referenced calls between Jennings and Turner. There was no evidence that any Cobalt report was printed or sent to anyone. App. 433-

-

⁶ Jennings made a total of 68 Cobalt searches on a variety of matters that day. *See* App. 757-760. Cobalt searches specifically related to the February 17 shooting are denoted in Trial Exhibit R-17 by CCN #17027584. App. 439.

⁷ Both Turner and Jennings were acquitted of any misconduct with regard to this shooting. App. 157-160.

⁸ Jennings made a total of 79 Cobalt searches on a variety of matters that day. *See* App. 751-755. Cobalt searches specifically related to the February 22 shooting are denoted in Trial Exhibit R-17 by CCN #17030219. App. 439.

435. Furthermore, Jennings's Cobalt database searches for the February 17 shooting did not identify any potential suspects; they merely recounted that there were two unidentified potential suspects, one of whom was described only as an African-American male, while the other was not described at all. *See* App. 777-778, 802.

C. Murder Of Andrew McPhatter (March 1)

On March 1, 2017, at 10:49am, Turner allegedly shot and killed Andrew McPhatter at 3501 Wheeler Road SE. App. 168, 336, 429. At 10:57am that day, Turner called Jennings for 1 minute and 35 seconds. App. 707. At 11:20am, Jennings called Turner for 1 minute and 25 seconds. *Id.* At 11:28am, Turner called Jennings for 4 seconds. *Id.* At 11:28am, Jennings called Turner for 37 seconds. *Id.* That afternoon at 1:42pm, Turner called Jennings for 20 seconds. App. 706. Jones called Jennings at 12:03pm for 10 seconds and at 2:57pm for 51 seconds. App. 745-746. The government introduced no evidence concerning the content of these calls.

On March 2, at 7:19am and 7:21am, Jennings accessed the Cobalt report for the McPhatter shooting the day prior. App. 769. She converted an internal-facing report into .pdf format, but there is no evidence that she printed the report or shared it with anyone. App. 433-435. At the time Jennings accessed Cobalt, the incident report for the March 1 shooting did not identify any suspects or include any witness information. App. 841-869.

7

⁹ Jennings made a total of 50 Cobalt searches on a variety of matters that day. *See* App. 762-770. Cobalt searches specifically related to the March 1 shooting are denoted in Trial Exhibit R-18 by CCN #17034417. App. 439.

Later that day, Turner called Jennings at 8:05pm for zero seconds. App. 704. At 10:12pm, Jennings called Turner back, and the call lasted for 2 minutes and 7 seconds. *Id.* Several days later, on March 6, 2017, Jennings called Turner at 10:17pm for 2 minutes and 8 seconds. App. 702. Again, the government introduced no evidence regarding the content of these calls.

On March 8, 2017, unidentified persons shot at Turner outside his parole supervision office. App. 249-251, 271, 375. Turner was unharmed, but his white Lexus was damaged. App. 284-285, 330-331. The police impounded the vehicle, searched it, and eventually found a 10mm Glock firearm in the glove compartment. App. 307-310. Jones called Jennings three times that afternoon: at 3:44pm for 8 seconds, 3:48pm for 5 seconds, and 6:29pm for 17 seconds. App. 741-743. At 9:03pm, Turner called Jennings for 24 minutes and 23 seconds. App. 700. Two days later, on March 10, Turner called Jennings at 8:24am for 6 seconds. App. 698. He then texted her at 8:25am: "Nik I need u to call me ASAP Please." App. 717. Jennings called Turner at 8:59am for 1 minute and 24 seconds. App. 698. He called her back at 9:01am for 8 minutes and 45 seconds. *Id.* The prosecution failed to introduce any evidence about the content of the March 8 or March 10 calls.

On March 11, 2017, at 2:55am, Turner was arrested for unlawfully possessing the handgun found in his car. App. 294-295, 375, 350-351. Turner's phones (one of which he had used to communicate with Jennings) were also seized. App. 299, 302-303. That night, at 7:18pm, Jones called Jennings for 4 minutes and 47 seconds. App. 739. Again, the prosecution offered no evidence of the content of those calls.

The next day, on March 12 at 12:04pm, Jones texted Jennings "Hey nik.man they said he in district court. can check me see wat they got." App. 748. Jones then called Jennings at 2:10pm for 35 seconds. App. 737. Jennings called Jones back at 2:13pm for 1 minute and 39 seconds. *Id.* At 2:21pm, Jennings ran a Cobalt search on the March 8 shooting outside the parole office. App. 764. Two days later, on March 14, Turner was indicted by a federal grand jury in the case of *United States v. Derek Turner*, 1:17-cr-055 (CRC) (D.D.C.), for his possession of a firearm on a date that was not specified for the jury. App. 350-351.

Two weeks later, on March 28, 2017, Jennings replaced her cellphone, keeping the same phone number. App. 386-387. The government introduced no evidence about why she did so. On April 12, Marshay Hazelwood, Turner's girlfriend, texted Jennings that Turner wanted to speak with her. App. 731-732. Jennings responded that she was willing to talk with him. *Id.* On May 13, Turner and Hazelwood were on a call recorded by the jail where Turner was housed, during which Turner instructed Hazelwood to dial Jennings into a three-way call. Tr. Ex. JC-14. After Jennings joined the call, Turner asked Jennings to meet with Hazelwood, and Jennings agreed. *Id.* Several days later, on May 16, during a recorded call from jail, Turner asked Hazelwood, "did you ever go holla at Nik?...That's important." Tr. Ex. JC-16.

¹⁰ Jennings made a total of 18 Cobalt searches on a variety of matters that day. *See* App. 762-770. Cobalt searches specifically related to the March 8 incident are denoted in Trial Exhibit R-18 by CCN #17038724. App. 439.

¹¹ When Jennings's phone was searched in January 2018, it did not contain text message or call data prior to March 28, 2017. App. 386-387.

On May 31, Hazelwood and Jennings met at Jennings's home, *see* App. 729, following which Hazelwood told Turner during a call that he was not being investigated. *See* Tr. Ex. JC-22. However, the government presented no evidence that between March 2 and September 6, 2017, Jennings ran any Cobalt searches related to Turner or otherwise looked into investigations concerning Turner's acts. During the call, Hazelwood texted Jennings, "He said he send his love." Jennings replied, "Tell him me [too]." App. 729.

On September 6, 2017, Turner was charged with Andrew McPhatter's murder. App. 582. At 8:02am that day, Turner's name was added for the first time to the Cobalt record for the March 1 murder. App. 460-461. That same day, Jennings accessed Cobalt at 8:42am, 8:48am, 8:53am, 8:57am, and 10:39am to search for the McPhatter murder incident. App. 772-773.

Jennings texted Hazelwood at 8:58am on September 6, "This Ronnika," to which Hazelwood replied "Ok," along with an image. App. 727. The government presented no evidence concerning the content of that image. Hazelwood then asked Jennings, "Can you keep me updated with anything Else?" *Id.* Jennings replied, "I sure will." *Id.* The prosecution submitted no evidence of any further communications between the two about Turner, or that any information obtained from Cobalt that day was ever communicated to Turner, Hazelwood, or anyone else.

_

¹² Jennings made a total of 53 Cobalt searches on a variety of matters that day. *See* App. 772-774. Cobalt searches specifically related to the March 1 murder are denoted in Trial Exhibit R-19 by CCN #17034417. App. 439.

D. Police Interrogation Of Jennings

On January 17, 2018, at the direction of MPD Detective Charles Fultz, two detectives were sent to Jennings's workstation at the Seventh District to retrieve her for an interview. App. 176, 180-181, 208. Despite the availability of conference rooms at the Seventh District, the detectives drove Jennings in the back of a squad car to the homicide office. App. 176, 208-209. The nearly five-hour interview that followed was in a locked interrogation room with two detectives seated in front of the door. App. 210, 212-214, 221. She could not exit the room without one of the detectives using their access code to open the door for her. App. 212-214, 217.

Multiple times during the interrogation, Det. Fultz reminded Jennings that she could face termination if she did not fully cooperate with his questioning. For example, after telling her that "the only way to help this is [to] communicate everything," Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 1:33:10-1:33:25, he pushed her to think about "the decisions that you're making about you and ... your future employment with the Metropolitan Police Department." *Id.* at 1:35:30-1:36:00. Later, Det. Fultz doubled down, reminding her she was a single mother with three kids to support, saying: "you may lose your job. How are you going to survive, dear? ... That's why I need to make sure to have everything." *Id.* at 1:37:15-1:37:50.

Detective Fultz made similar statements throughout the interview. "I want you to understand that honesty at this point in time is the only thing that we can go with Sometimes we gotta man up and take whatever comes with it ... one thing is about 'manning up' is telling the truth." *Id.* at 9:25-9:45; *see also id.* at 36:00-36:25 ("You have everything [to lose] ... mouths to feed, a house you're trying to

buy, bills and all of that is about to change because of what side of the fence you're really on."); 41:45-42:25 ("You're making detrimental decisions regarding ... your employment ... I'm not trying to make you do anything but tell the truth."). Detective Fultz later testified to the grand jury that during the interrogation, Jennings "knows if she does not cooperate she is fired, she's gone." App. 214-215.

At one point, Det. Fultz requested Jennings's phone, saying "[H]ere comes the—one of the next biggest tests of you. It's in that purse. It's that phone. Are you willing to consent to us to download that phone?" Tr. Ex. RJ-1 at 1:16:10-1:16:30. In response, Jennings retrieved her phone and handed it to him. *Id.* at 1:16:30-1:16:35. She then signed a consent-to-search form that was provided by Det. Fultz. *Id.* at 1:21:40-1:21:50. As she handed him the signed form, he asked whether her phone had a password, and she gave it to him. *Id.* at 1:21:50-1:22:00.

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