BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 06/30/2025 02:58 PM

Nos. 23-CF-205 & 23-CF-229

RONNIKA JENNINGS AND DEREK TURNER,

Appellants,

V.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEALS FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB DANIEL J. LENERZ MICHAEL TRUSCOTT

- * ELIZABETH GABRIEL
 MD Bar
 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Elizabeth.Gabriel@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. Nos. 2017-CF1-15352, 2018-CF1-6028

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

D. Discussion

1. Jennings's *Garrity* claim is waived.

Jennings's *Garrity*-based claim fails at the outset because she did not preserve that claim below. Jennings did not raise a *Garrity* claim in her pretrial motion to suppress, nor did she argue in the trial court that her *Garrity* rights were violated. Although her counsel cross-examined Detective Fultz about references he had made to potential employment consequences Jennings might suffer, counsel never suggested that the court should apply the *Garrity* framework to Jennings's claims of coercion. Instead, he argued that Fultz's statements supported a finding of custodial interrogation (9/6/22 Tr. 74-75). *See Wells*, 55 F.4th at 792 (noting that the Supreme Court has recognized *Garrity* as a "different exception" to "the general rule that the

Fifth Amendment privilege is not self-executing," separate and distinct from the exception of custodial interrogation) (citation omitted)). Jennings's *Garrity* claim has therefore been waived.

2. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err in Failing to Find a *Garrity* Violation.

Should this Court nonetheless choose to consider Jennings's *Garrity* claim, "at best . . . the plain error standard would apply." *Walker*, 201 A.3d at 594 (applying plain-error standard to forfeited claim that witness's statements were involuntary). "Under the test for plain error, appellant first must show (1) 'error', (2) that is 'plain', and (3) that affected appellant's 'substantial rights.' Even if all three of these conditions are met, this [C]ourt will not reverse unless (4) 'the error seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings." *Id.* (citations omitted).

The trial court did not plainly err in failing to find a *Garrity* violation. "[T]the Supreme Court has made clear that public employees cannot be compelled to choose between providing unprotected incriminating testimony or losing their jobs." *Aguilera v. Baca*, 510 F.3d 1161, 1171 (9th Cir. 2007). Contrary to Jennings's contention (at 41-43), Jennings was never forced to make that choice. Unlike the police officers in *Garrity*, Jennings was not told that she would be dismissed from her job if she refused to answer questions. Although Fultz reminded her that she was

part of the MPD "family" (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 3:58–4:15), and cautioned that she could get fired for what she had done (i.e., misusing her access to police databases to supply information to Turner) (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 1:32:40–1:33:02), he never presented her with the "Hobson's choice of either making an incriminating statement or being fired." *United States v. Vangates*, 287 F.3d 1315, 1321 (11th Cir. 2002) (citation omitted).

Jennings points to Fultz's statements encouraging her to think about her "future employment with the Metropolitan Police Department," noting that she was a single mother with three children to support and suggesting that she was making "detrimental decisions" regarding her employment (Jennings Br. 42). But none of these statements, the earliest of which came nearly 40 minutes after the start of the interview, conveyed that Jennings would be terminated if she chose to remain silent. "[W]here there is no direct threat, the mere possibility of future discipline is not enough to trigger *Garrity* protection[.]" *United States v. Smith*, 821 F.3d 1293, 1302 (11th Cir. 2016). As the First Circuit has explained,

In all of the cases flowing from *Garrity*, there are two common features: (1) the person being investigated is explicitly told that failure to waive his constitutional right against self-incrimination will result in his discharge from public employment (or a similarly severe sanction imposed in the case of private citizens); and (2) there is a statute or municipal ordinance mandating such procedure. In this case, there was no explicit "or else" choice and no statutorily mandated firing is involved. We do not think that the subjective fears of defendant as to what might happen if he refused to answer his superior officers are sufficient to bring him within *Garrity*'s cloak of protection.

United States v. Indorato, 628 F.2d 711, 716 (1st Cir. 1980). Here, as in Indorato, Jennings "was not told that [s]he would be dismissed if [s]he failed to answer the questions asked," nor was she "asked to sign a waiver of immunity." *Id.* at 717.

Fultz's grand jury testimony that Jennings knew she would be fired if she did not cooperate (9/6/22 Tr. 45), like his trial testimony that he was unconcerned about the Internal Affairs Division's position regarding Jennings's employment rights (11/14/22 Tr. 49), is irrelevant to the question whether, at the time of the interview, Fultz conveyed these sentiments to Jennings such that she was coerced to surrender her Fifth Amendment rights or face termination. "The core of the Fifth Amendment is the protection against coerced self-incriminating testimony. And for an employee to be coerced, [s]he must both be objectively threatened with a substantial adverse employment consequence for refusing to incriminate h[er]self and be subjectively aware of that penalty." *Wells*, 55 F.4th at 797. No such overt threat occurred here.

In the absence of a direct threat, Jennings was required to establish both that she actually believed she would be fired if she did not cooperate and that this belief was objectively reasonable under the circumstances. *See Wells*, 55 F.4th at 797; *Smith*, 821 F.3d at 1302-03; *Friedrick*, 842 F.2d at 395. Jennings makes neither showing. Jennings did not testify as to her actual belief during the interview, and nothing in the record suggests that she believed she would be terminated if she did not confess. To the contrary, Jennings denied that she felt obligated to be there,

affirmed that she did not feel pressured in any way, and indicated that she understood she did not have to answer questions and could terminate the interview at any time (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 4:48–5:02, 1:12:45–1:13:04). *See Wells*, 55 F.4th at 798 (defendant failed to show subjective belief that he would be discharged if he did not answer questions; defendant "never expressed this belief," and in fact showed "affirmative intent to cooperate with the investigation"); *Shields v. State*, 890 S.E.2d 505, 509-10 (Ga. 2023) (no *Garrity* violation where defendant "failed to present evidence of either an overt threat of termination or subjective belief on [defendant's] part that his employment would be terminated if he refused to answer . . . questions").

Even if Jennings could demonstrate a subjective belief that she was at risk of losing her job if she failed to comply with the interview, any such belief would be objectively unreasonable. Jennings identifies no MPD rule or policy mandating termination or other adverse employment consequence should an employee invoke the right against self-incrimination, much less evidence that Jennings herself was aware of such a rule. *See Wells*, 55 F.4th at 799 (rejecting *Garrity* claim where there was no evidence that defendant was aware of Coast Guard employment manual that suggested that failure to give oral or written statements could lead to removal); *Indorato*, 628 F.2d at 716 (same where "no statutorily mandated firing is involved"). Further, the record does not demonstrate that Fultz or anyone else had the intent or authority to seek termination of Jennings's employment if she refused to cooperate.

Indeed, Fultz repeatedly emphasized that Jennings was not required to answer questions, and assured Jennings that she would go back to work, that he would not reveal to her superiors what she had said during the interview, and that he was "not rushing to . . . get somebody fired" (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 3:53:20-3:53:40). See United States v. Trevino, 215 F. App'x 319, 321-22 (5th Cir. 2007) ("objective circumstances" surrounding interview showed no violation of Garrity rights, where defendant "was told before questioning began that he was free to leave the interrogation room at any time," and defendant's supervisors were not present and "never indicated to him that his job would be in any greater jeopardy if he failed to cooperate"); People v. Sapp, 934 P.2d 1367, 1372 (Colo. 1997) ("[I]n order for a law enforcement officer's subjective belief that he might be fired to be considered objectively reasonable for purposes of *Garrity* immunity, it must be supported by some demonstrable action of the state."). As promised, at the conclusion of the interview, Jennings returned to her work station at 7D. No reasonable person in Jennings's circumstances would have understood that they were being forced to choose "between the rock and the whirlpool": "self-incrimination or job forfeiture." Garrity, 385 U.S. at 496. Jennings thus cannot establish either that the trial court erred by failing to find a Garrity violation or that any such error was plain on these facts.

Assuming arguendo that Jennings could meet the *Garrity* test and demonstrate error that was plain or obvious, she nevertheless fails to establish that any error affected her substantial rights or the fairness and integrity of the proceedings. See generally Comford v. United States, 947 A.2d 1181, 1189-90 (D.C. 2008) ("the appellant must demonstrate that the error affected his substantial rights by showing a reasonable probability that it had a prejudicial effect on the outcome of his trial... . [and] also must show that the error seriously affected the fairness, integrity or public reputation of the judicial proceeding"). Jennings never admitted guilt to any of the charged offenses; instead, throughout the interview, she steadfastly asserted her innocence. Although the government argued that her denial of wrongdoing demonstrated a lack of credibility (11/16/22 Tr. 96-102), given the compelling evidence of her guilt discussed in Part V below, there is no reasonable probability that, had her statements been suppressed, the jury would have returned a different verdict. See Dancy v. United States, 745 A.2d 259, 273 (D.C. 2000) (erroneous denial of defendant's motion to suppress statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where defendant's statement was "not directly incriminating," and where "there was compelling evidence of [defendant's] involvement in the crimes apart from his statement"); Madison v. United States, 512 A.2d 279, 283 (D.C. 1986) (any error in denying motion to suppress statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, where defendant's denial of guilt was "exculpatory, and its probative value, if any, [wa]s de minimis").

3. Jennings's Statements Were Voluntary.

As an alternative to her *Garrity* claim, Jennings asserts that her statements were involuntary under the totality of the circumstances (Jennings Br. 43-44). The record belies this assertion.

Jennings's personal characteristics and the circumstances of the interview demonstrate that her statements were not coerced. At the time of the interview, Jennings was 39 years old, had achieved a high-school education, and had worked for MPD for over a decade (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 5:40–5:50, 1:19:55–1:20:40). As the trial court noted, Jennings's work experience gave her "some level of familiarity with police and comfortability around police" (9/6/22 Tr. 123). This was evident in Jennings's demeanor, which was "relaxed and not nervous" (*id.* at 122), as she herself confirmed (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 21:30–22:15 ("I'm not nervous. At all.")). The court further noted that there was "no evidence of any physical or mental impairments nor any use of medication" (9/6/22 Tr. 123).

The surrounding circumstances strongly support the conclusion that Jennings spoke with the detectives voluntarily and of her own free will. Jennings was escorted to the interview in an unmarked police car, and was not handcuffed, placed under arrest, or frisked (7/5/22 Tr. 83; 9/6/22 Tr. 60-61). At the beginning of the interview,

Fultz told Jennings that she was "free to go," "free to stop at any point in time," was "not under arrest," and did not have to answer any questions (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 4:48– 5:02, 10:25–10:40; 7/5/22 Tr. 81, 84). Jennings affirmed that she was there because she "chose" to be, and denied that she felt pressured in any way (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 1:12:45–1:13:04). The detectives maintained a "conversational tone" throughout the interview and offered Jennings water, food, and bathroom breaks (7/5/22 Tr. 84; 7/8/22 Tr. 17; 9/6/22 Tr. 122). Indeed, nothing in the record suggests that the police engaged in the sort of "trickery" or "mental or physical tactics" that either this Court or the Supreme Court has deemed coercive. See Turner, 761 A.2d at 854 (noting coercion found in cases where, for example, a defendant was questioned "while 'encumbered by tubes, needles, and breathing apparatus' and complaining of 'unbearable' pain"; a defendant, who was questioned for eight hours, "repeatedly was denied counsel and rest"; a defendant who had "mental problems" was questioned for eight hours in "small, crowded room"; a defendant was promised protection from "outside mob").

Jennings highlights that (1) she was interviewed in a locked interrogation room at the Homicide Branch, (2) the detectives took her phone, (3) the detectives referred to possible punishment, (4) she was never given a *Miranda* or *Garrity* warning, and (5) the detectives reminded her that she was "part of the police department" (Jennings Br. 43-44).

None of these circumstances, either individually or together, establishes that Jennings's statements were involuntary. Fultz explained that Jennings was brought to the Homicide Branch in an effort to be discrete and prevent any embarrassment that might result from Jennings being interviewed at the station house where she worked (9/6/22 Tr. 62). Fultz took Jennings's cell phone only after Jennings handed it to him and consented to have it searched (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 1:16:25).8 Although Fultz made reference to the fact that Jennings "might be sitting next to [Turner]" in jail (Govt. Ex. RJ-1 at 55:50-56:05), "truthful statements about the defendant's predicament are not the type of coercion that threatens to render a statement involuntary." United States v. Braxton, 112 F.3d 777, 782 (4th Cir. 1997) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted) (cited with approval in Toudle v. United States, 187 A.3d 1269, 1287 n.21 (D.C. 2018)). As this Court has noted, "convey[ing] the gravity of the defendant's situation by referring to charges he might

_

⁸ Jennings does not challenge the validity of her consent to search the phone. Instead, she argues that her act of producing the phone should have been suppressed on Fifth Amendment grounds because it was an expression of ownership (Jennings Br. 46). As this Court has recognized, however, the "act of production privilege is not automatic; it is not available if the existence, possession, and authenticity of a document is a foregone conclusion, as would be the case if the act of production adds little or nothing to the sum total of the Government's information." *In re Clark*, 311 A.3d 882, 890 (D.C. 2024) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Jennings's ownership of the cell phone she was carrying in her pocket was a foregone conclusion, and her act of producing the phone added little or nothing to the government's information about its existence, possession, and authenticity.

face," or suggesting that a defendant might go to jail or face a "harsher sentence for failure to cooperate," does not necessarily amount to coercion. *Toudle*, 187 A.3d at 1287 & n.23. In this case, neither Fultz's reference to possible punishment nor his efforts to encourage cooperation by reminding Jennings of her connection to the police department overbore Jennings's will. Despite these statements, Jennings never wavered in her claim of innocence. *See Turner*, 761 A.2d at 854 (revelation of search warrant did not amount to "trickery" where there was "no evidence that [defendant] was so affected by the revelation that it led him to make statements against his will"; defendant was "very consistent in his statements to the police both before and after the warrant was revealed to him").

Even assuming that the trial court erred in admitting Jennings's statements, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt for the reasons previously discussed.

4. The Trial Court Did Not Plainly Err in Failing to Conduct a *Kastigar* Hearing.

In *Kastigar v. United States*, 406 U.S. 441, 453 (1972), the Supreme Court held that a defendant who testifies under a grant of immunity pursuant to the federal

_

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